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“We commenced the erection of a com­
modious edifice.” The expression seems 
quaint and colorful in 1974, when we 
would more likely say that we began to 
build a roomy house. In the mid-nine­
teenth century, however, this phrase was 
the standard way of announcing a new 
architectural enterprise. Just as speech 
was quaintly colorful in those days, so too 
were the buildings which our forebears 
"commenced erecting.”

Building a new house in early Dubuque 
—or anywhere else on the frontier—was 
not a matter to be taken lightly, because 
a person could be confident of spending 
his life in the "edifice.” Teeming hordes 
swept across the land during the nine­
teenth century migrations, but millions 
more stayed put. A building did not 
quickly become obsolete. Like the Euro­
peans, whose buildings from the Middle 
Ages were still in use, the Americans built 
for future centuries. The houses were solid 
and, even if cramped and small, could 
still proudly be described as “commodi­
ous” in the frontier town of Dubuque.

By the time Dubuque was founded, 
there had been more than two centuries 
of experience in adapting buildings to the 
North American continent. Stvles and

methods of construction still imitated 
European precedents, but there was no 
longer total dependence upon the tech­
niques of the Medieval, Renaissance, or 
Baroque Periods. Continued immigation 
from Europe produced some interesting 
carryovers in communities with a heavy 
ethnic population, and architects still re­
lied upon builder plan books from Eng­
land and Italy. However, along with the 
political independence in the eighteenth
century had come some measure of in-*

dependence in architecture as well.
In the 200 years since the settlement 

of America, building technology had 
changed. Log cabins, a common type of 
early frontier building, began to disappear 
as the line of settlement passed beyond 
the heavily forested regions. After the in­
troduction of steam sawmills in the early 
1800s, sawed lumber was plentiful and 
cheap and made possible a new method of 
building, called "balloon framing.” Timber 
framing, the system common before 1833 
when the balloon frame was invented, re­
lied on hewn structural members and 
weight-bearing outer walls. The balloon 
frame instead supported the roof beams 
with a thin, skeleton-like system of inner 
walls. Sawed studdings, joists, and rafters 
created a thin, but sturdy frame. Wall 
coverings were attached to the frame and 
did not bear any weight.

By 1850, wrought iron and cast iron 
pillars, beams, and decorations were avail­
able to builders. Entire fronts of buildings 
were cast of iron and erected in pieces, 
bolted or joined together like a giant jig-
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An example of balloon framing, [illustration from 
A Treatise on Building Construction, II (Scranton: 
Colliery Engineering Co., 1900), 34.]

saw puzzle. Cast iron fronts were used 
most often for commercial buildings and 
can be identified today by the undeviating 
regularity of the window placement. Iron 
was used in all types of construction, both 
as ornament and for support.

Even though materials and advanced 
techniques were available in Dubuque, 
trained architects were scarce. There were 
some men considered by their peers to be 
architects and others who made their liv­
ings solely by designing buildings, yet few

in the Midwest could boast of formal train­
ing. The alternative to an architect was 
the carpenter-builder. These men were 
skilled craftsmen who were able to con­
struct almost any type of building, draw­
ing only on their experience, a plan book, 
or the patron s rough indication of size, 
shape, material, style, and funds. The 
widespread activity of carpenter-builders 
explains why so few buildings constructed 
before 1850 can be attributed to a particu­
lar architect. Contemporary accounts were 
careful to name specifically the carpenter, 
the mason, the bricklayer, the plasterer, 
the painter, or any others involved in 
work. Presumably, the patron or one of 
the craftsmen provided general supervi­
sion in many cases.

The sparcity of architects did not limit 
the use of the latest styles for buildings. 
Many builders’ plan books were published 
in England and the United States in the 
eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. So 
important and frequently used were these 
plan books, that actual buildings have 
been found which reproduce almost ex­
actly a sketch from a pattern book. A pa­
tron simply pointed to a page in a book 
and told a carpenter to duplicate it as near­
ly as possible.

Use of plan books also led to what might 
be called regional eclecticism. Either pa­
tron or builder chose details to suit taste, 
whim, or pocketbook, resulting in a strange 
mixture of styles that was not quite con­
sistent enough to be a new style in it­
self. No one thought it odd or in poor 
taste to have a Greek doorway, Roman
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columns, Italian Renaissance windows, and 
a Gothic tower all on the same house. The 
house might involve the use of both hewn 
and sawed lumber, stone, brick, and stuc­
co. Such picking and choosing of what 
was deemed attractive or desirable led 
to conglomerate buildings which are the 
bane of architectural historians. Even 
though labeled eclectic, such buildings 
lend a great deal of charm and variety to 
the towns of the western two-thirds of the 
United States.

Because these styles penetrated to the 
interior valleys in such close succession, 
because the population stemmed from 
such varied backgrounds, and because of 
the common use of carpenter-builders and 
of plan books, it is difficult to make mean­
ingful generalizations about architecture 
except in a specific place at a particular 
time. Because of cultural lag or slow com­
munication, two or three styles, which were 
fashionable years apart in Europe or on 
the eastern seaboard, appeared simultan­
eously in a frontier community.

Americans had at their disposal in the 
early nineteenth century a knowledge of 
all prevalent styles, a wide variety of 
building materials, and sufficient construc­
tional skills and techniques. Examples of 
a specific style may easily be found. But 
they are evident mostly because they are 
atypical. Individual taste led to mixing of 
styles and materials, and almost no effort 
was made to coordinate or group build­
ings into an ensemble. Each structure 
usually stands alone and must be studied 
and judged on its individual characteris­

tics. Few neighborhoods, and even fewer 
towns, were uniform in either stvle or 
materials, which is not to say that it would 
have been desirable for them to be uni­
form. However, most of them were not 
even remotely complementary. In the in­
terior of the United States it is almost as 
if all the factors bearing upon architecture 
were poured together and instead of com­
ing out a reflection of Europe, or a clear­
ly identifiable American modification or 
style, they came out hash.

The site of Dubuque had been known to 
white men earlier than almost any other 
portion of Iowa. Julien Dubuque operated 
lead mines there as early as 1785 and 
received a grant from the Spanish govern­
ment of well over 100,000 acres, including 
"The Mines of Spain. After his death in 
1810, the claims to the land passed to the 
heirs of Auguste Chouteau in St. Louis, 
but extensive lead mining in the adjacent 
areas of Illinois and Wisconsin kept knowl­
edge of the old site vivid. Indeed, illegal 
entry by miners occurred in 1829, 1830, 
and 1832. In each case United States 
Army troops forced the squatters out, but 
mines were opened, and cabins and smelt­
ers built. After the Black Hawk Cession 
Treaty of 1832 extinguished the Indian 
title to this land, anxious miners camped 
on islands in the Mississippi River to await 
the legal opening of the area, which was 
set for June 1, 1833.

A "Lead Rush’ took place during the 
summer of 1833, and probably as many as 
1500 people were living at the site by
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The William Newman cabin, of the dog-trot variety, existed by 1833 and is noiv preserved in Eagle 
Point Park, Dubuque. A dog-trot cabin was simply two single cabins joined together by a continuous 
roof, creating a breeze-way between them.

1836. With the economic base of lead min­
ing to support the population the town 
continued to grow rapidly, and after the 
lead ore gave out, the business life of the 
community shifted to an equally lucrative 
base of lumber milling and related com­
mercial woodworking enterprises, as well 
as to a variety of other industries. A com­
munity of 15,957 people existed by 1857, 
making it the largest city in Iowa.

The first buildings in the Dubuque 
Mines area were crude structures, thrown 
up in haste to provide temporary shelter 
for the miners. Patrick J. Quigley, one of 
the earliest inhabitants, recalled that the 
cabins and shanties were so few in the 
summer of 1833 that for two or three 
months he was obliged to sleep out-of- 
doors more than half the time. Hewn logs

of native timber were the commonest 
building material, and both single and 
dog-trot cabins were constructed, perhaps 
as manv as 100 by 1833.

When a raft of lumber from Wisconsin 
was brought downriver by William Lock- 
wood in 1833, a new and more abundant 
sort of building material was made avail­
able. General Warner Lewis built the 
first frame house in the vicinitv in Novem- 
her 1833, and in December, Peter Lori- 
mier built the second. These two frame 
houses were used by George W. Harrison 
as fixed points for his unofficial survey. In 
1834, a more ambitious building, the Bell 
Tavern, was erected, partially of hewn logs 
and partially of sawed lumber. Some 
houses were huddled together near the 
tavern while others were scattered up and
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down the coulees at random.
The first public building in Dubuque 

was commissioned in 1834 by local resi­
dents of the Methodist congregation. Local 
donations and contributions from St. Louis 
raised the $225 necessary to build a 
church. P. Smith and William Clark were 
the builders. The contract specified the 
building to be built of hewn logs, one 
story, 20 by 26 feet, and ten feet high “in 
the clear/ When completed on Septem­
ber 3, the church had a shingled roof, one 
batten door, four 20-pane windows and 
one 12-pane window. The cracks between 
the logs were pointed with a mortar made 
of lime and sand. This was probably a 
typical sort of building, larger perhaps 
than the residences, and impressive main­
ly for its shingled roof and the number of 
windows. The cost was also probably rep­
resentative since it was built entirelv by 
contractors, rather than by the donated 
labor of the congregation.

During the same summer, a stone ware­
house was built on the river bank, and for 
many years it was the principal steamboat 
landing and storage facility. This was the 
first recorded use of native limestone as 
the major construction material for a Du­
buque building, although earlier build­
ings undoubtedly had native stone founda­
tions, fireplaces, and other peripheral 
parts.

By 1836, when Iowa’s first newspaper, 
The DuBuque Visitor, began publication, 
the town s commercial needs were served 
by 60 stores and groceries, four taverns, 
and an undetermined number of mechanic 
shops and trading establishments. There 
were approximately 1000 inhabitants in 
the town itself, but no record remains of 
the number of residences.

The Visitor commented in its first issue 
on May 11, 1836: “Artisans of almost everv 
description are needed at DuBuque, and 
would find immediate employment and 
good wages; particularly brick-makers and 
masons.’ Clay suitable for firing into brick 
was plentiful in the bluffs behind the com­
munity, but skills and time for brick-mak-j *
ing were scarce. LeRoy Jackson erected 
the first brick house in 1836, and probably 
paid the mason $2.50 to $3.00 a day- 
higher by 15 or 20 per cent than car­
penter’s wages.

A lack of local lumber also retarded the 
pace of construction. Buildings needed or
wanted by the community were delayed,* * *

and many emigrants returned downriver 
for lack of houses. Even though David 
Sleator had established a steam sawmill 
in 1836, the quality of lumber and con­
struction was not high. Many of the 55 
houses constructed that vear were evi- 
dently ramshackle and temporary. Lum-

Note on Sources
The Dubuque newspapers, city directories, coun­
ty histories, censuses, and various monographs 
and secondary literature about Dubuque were 
basic references for this article. Of special help 
were Mrs. Kenneth Mercer and John Baule of 
the Dubuque County Historical Society who made 
available the materials in the Ham House Museum 
Library, and who also gave me many clues un­
available elsewhere. Mr. John M. McDonald, Mr. 
Edward Langworthy Chalmers, and Mr. Frederick 
E. Bissell were also helpful, as were the person­
nel of the Wahlert Memorial Library at Loras 
College, the Carnegie-Stout Public Library', the 
Dubuque County Court House, and the Dubuque 
City Hall.

Specific source materials deserving special men­
tion are: The Josiah Conzett Papers, a typed 
translation of which is located in the Ham House 
Museum Library; The Langworthy Papers, in the 
archives of the State Historical Society of Iowa; 
Betsy H. Woodman, “ Jo h n  Francis Rague: Mid- 
Nineteenth Century Revivalist Architect (1799- 
1877),” unpublished Master's Thesis, The Uni­
versity of Iowa, 1969; Sister Maria Michele 
Armato and Sister Mary Jeremy Finnegan (trans.), 
The Memoirs of Father Samuel Mazzuchelli (Chi­
cago: The Priory' Press, 1967); John Calvin Hol­
brook, Recollections of a Nonagenarian (Boston: 
The Pilgrim Press, 1897).
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ber floated down the Mississippi from 
Wisconsin eventually helped the materials 
shortage. Oak, which was scarce near Du­
buque, was cheaper than pine, which was 
almost unlimited in supply even though 
pine had to be rafted from the north. 
Rents remained high and housing scarce 
due to the rapid influx of population.

The lack of progress in construction 
seems to have continued through the early 
1840s. The few buildings which existed 
outside of Main Street and “Dublin (a 
fairly crowded residential area), were so 
scattered as to barely make the appear­
ance of a street. Larger and more elabor­
ate buildings were few in these early 
years. The only brick commercial building 
by 1840 was the Jesse P. Farley and 
Company store. Solon Langworthy re­
marked that a traveler debarking on the 
steamboat landing in 1840 could see no 
buildings better than “Hewen logs.

Despite continued growth and prosper­
ity during the decade of the 1840s, Du­
buque residents continued to build in a 
haphazard fashion. The local lead mines 
lent a boom-town atmosphere which may 
have added to the carelessness and general 
lack of concern for architecture. By the 
1850s this began to change. Prosperity— 
at least until the Panic of 1857—sparked 
an increase in building. The editor of The 
Daily Miner s Express in 1852 drew a neat 
correlation between aesthetic conscious­
ness and economic advantage:

We take advantage of the opportunity which 
this notice affords us, to throw out some 
hints on the subject of architectural style 
and variety in building. There is no sub­
ject perhaps, in which we could touch, that 
is more appropriate to new and rising 
towns than this. There is no feature in the 
exterior of a town or city, which so clearly

speaks the taste and character of its inhabi­
tants as the architectural tone and style of 
their dwellings and public improvements. 
Shew [sic] us neatness, elegance and taste 
in the style and symmetry of a dwelling, 
and we will form a very accurate idea of 
the taste and character of its inmates. The 
striking effect of the influence produced 
upon our estimate of the inhabitants of any 
place, from the style and appearance of their 
dwellings, is matter of almost everyday ex­
perience to us all. . . . It is not therefore, 
the expense of a house, that we have refer­
ence to when we speak of the taste and 
character of its inmates. It is simply the 
style. . . .  In speaking of style, we can­
not withhold the opinion that, our west­
ern towns, pay too little attention to var­
iety. It should be the study of every resi­
dent to make himself useful to the com­
munity in which he lives, as well as to con­
sult his own and his family’s interest and 
convenience. When a citizen makes up his 
mind to build, he ought also to make it a 
point to try and have something different 
from the general custom either by improv­
ing upon it or introducing something en­
tirely new. Nothing contributes so much to 
the beauty of any place as an emulous and 
chaste variety in the tone and style of its 
public improvements and private residences 
. . . .  Nothing will more readily win the 
admiration of the stranger or visitor, and 
nothing more certainly decide the mind of 
him who is in search of a new and pleasant 
home.

During the middle decade of the cen­
tury, the wealthier citizens of Dubuque 
were attracted to the bluff area behind the 
town as a residential site. Soon, a bluff 
mansion became the status mark of eco­
nomic and social success. As one editor 
noted:

The bluffs in the rear of the city are be­
coming dotted all over with new residences, 
which seem, from the points below, to be 
springing up out of the earth as the result 
of magic. It may be some trouble for the
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residents to get up to them, but then they 
are amply repaid for all their toil by the 
beautiful views and the exhilarating breezes 
whieh continually are wafting o’er them.

Since these bluff sites were in newly plat­
ted additions, it behooved the proprietors 
to make the area attractive. The sale of 
lots depended on it.

A building boom hit during the 1850s, 
and the vacant lots of the commercial 
districts began to disappear as larger and 
more elaborate buildings went up—many 
of them constructed of brick. In 1854, 
a total of 333 new buildings were con­
structed; in 1855 a total of 471; and in 
1856 a total of 502. The total cost of con­
struction in 1856 was $1,167,145—$245,825 
going for 117 buildings on the bluffs. 
More than 1000 buildings were planned 
during 1856, although not all were com­
pleted. Many old houses were moved to 
vacant lots and rented, while the owners 
built new and more substantial homes on 
the old sites. The number of brick busi­
ness blocks built that year was three times 
greater than any previous year.

By 1857, business buildings covered a 
four block wide area from First to Sev­
enth Streets. Supplies of building ma­
terials were also more plentiful. The J. L. 
Dickinson Planing Mill was capable of 
turning out 10,000 feet of planed lumber, 
40 doors, and 1200 lights per week. It 
employed 34 hands and was only one of 
several productive saw and planing mills. 
The rise in building construction brought 
with it some attempts by the city govern­
ment to regulate the quality of buildings. 
An ordinance was presented to the City 
Council in 1856 by the City Attorney, 
“. . . prescribing the manner in which 
large buildings should be constructed,

with a view to prevent them from falling 
down.” At about the same time, it was 
forbidden to build houses with bow win­
dows which extended more than two feet 
from the facade. Apparently the motiva­
tion for this was not so much the safety 
of the building as the fact that projections 
obstructed free passage on the sidewalks 
and streets. The general appearance of the 
new buildings in Dubuque brought an 
accolade from the local editor:

The buildings that are going up in the 
various parts of our city are of a superior 
character, much surpassing those constructed 
in previous years; and should the balance 
of the great number already under contract 
prove to be of the same description, they 
will greatly enhance the beauty of our city, 
and will challenge comparison with the 
architecture of any city of the West.

The shortage of skilled craftsmen in 
the building trades had eased by the 1850s, 
although many people did the less com­
plicated woodworking for themselves and 
called on outside assistance only for the 
brick and stone work. The census rolls, 
city directories, and newspaper advertise­
ments indicate that there were many 
craftsmen on hand for these tasks.

Architects were, of course, much less 
common on the Iowa frontier than were 
craftsmen. Not until an area was populous 
and prosperous could an architect make 
a living solely by drawing plans for build­
ings. Many had to rely on alternate sources 
of income such as surveying, map draw­
ing, or related tasks. Many architects acted 
as superintendents of construction for 
buildings they had designed.

The first identifiable architect in Du­
buque was Father Samuel Mazzuchelli, 
who designed the first St. Raphael’s 
Church, built in 1835-36. Father Mazzu-
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bather Samuel Charles Mazzuchelli

chelli was an active missionary for the¥

Roman Catholic faith in the Upper Missis­
sippi Valley and the designer of at least 
ten churches. He also acted as superinten­
dent of construction for his projects and 
often had to use volunteer labor. Harrassed 
by indifferent workmen and a busy sched­
ule, the priest saw to the erection of the 
church and then, in 1839, the Bishop’s 
House, adjacent to the church. Even the 
indefatigable missionary must have been 
taxed by the labor. He alluded to the 
problems in his third person memoirs:

Where every thing has to be done and where 
the facilities one has in populous places 
are lacking, anyone who wishes to build 
must himself be architect and superintend- 
dent. Therefore the priest, although obliged 
to celebrate the Mass and preach every 
Sunday in the church at Galena, went to 
Dubuque every Monday to attend to the

building of the episcopal residence during
the week.

By 1852, more persons in Dubuque could 
afford to have their house plans drawn by 
a specialist, and this demand produced a 
greater supply of architects. Joseph C. 
Jennings referred to himself as a civil en­
gineer and architect, and advertised “De­
signs and Building Drawings made to 
order.” No buildings have been found 
which were specifically attributed to his 
design, but he did offer for sale several 
town and lot maps of Dubuque which he 
had drawn. At the same time, John Hill, 
architect and builder, offered his services, 
with “Particular Attention given to De­
signs and Building Drawings with all their 
details and specifications on the most rea­
sonable terms. Hill drew the plans for 
the residence of Alexander Simplot, the 
store building of Mr. Wilde, and the 
Methodist Episcopal Church. In partner­
ship with L. Horr, he designed the William 
Joshua Barney office building, and de­
clared the firm to be skilled in all the 
various styles of architecture. This was the 
period when the Classical Revival was 
being replaced by Cothic Revival, and 
presumably Hill and Horr wanted prospec­
tive customers to know that they were 
competent to execute plans and specifica­
tions in the traditional styles, as well as the 
new fads.

The number of architects increased, and 
by 1857, 13 men listed themselves in the 
business directory as architects. Of these, 
six were cross-listed as builders. John D. 
Abrv first advertised in April 1856 and 
was followed in September by John Fran­
cis Rague and John N. Moody. By Octo­
ber 1857, they had been joined by William 
Allardyce, William Baumer, S. Y. Brad-
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A view of Dubuque in 1846.

street, F. G. Brandt, Edward Harris, Wil­
liam Longhurst, John Mullaney, George 
W. Osborn, W. H. Drake, and L. L. Wood. 
The only other man who may have been 
an architect in Dubuque prior to the Civil 
War was Robert Schmid, who advertised 
as “Architect and Superintendent, former­
ly of Burling and Schmid, Chicago.” 

While the professional status of many 
of these men may be in doubt, some of 
them have the design of specific buildings 
attributed to them. Mullaney is credited 
as the architect of St. Raphael’s Cathedral, 
one of the largest and most impressive 
of all Dubuque buildings. The Lawrence 
Block was designed by C. C. Roberts, cited 
in the description of the building as a 
local architect, but he did not advertise in 
the newspapers nor did he list himself 
under any professional category in any of 
the city directories. John D. Abry designed 
the cupola for the Central Market and
Citv Hall.

*

By far the most productive architect 
was John Francis Rague, whose reputation 
was well established before he came to 
Dubuque. Rague designed the Illinois 
and Iowa capitol buildings, and various 
schools, business blocks, and residences in 
Wisconsin and Illinois. He moved to Du­
buque after he was already renowned for 
his work. While in Dubuque, he was re­
tained to draw the plans and specifications 
for the Central Market and Citv Hall, the 
County Jail, the First, Third, and Fifth 
Ward Schoolhouses, an addition to the 
County Court House, the Bissell-Babbage- 
Andrew house, and the octagonal resi­
dence of Edward Langworthv. For some 
of these buildings he also acted as super­
intendent of construction. With such an 
impressive list of buildings to his credit, 
Rague must be accounted as Dubuque’s 
leading architect prior to the Civil War.

As style of buildings grew to be more 
elaborate, and as larger buildings were
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erected, different materials became more 
common. By 1856, the Dubuque Cut Stone 
Y ard was in full operation, although the 
use of stone never achieved the popularity 
of wood and brick. By the summer of 
1856, Keys and Jackson opened a yard 
on the bluff above 13th Street to make 
pressed brick, and A. Biles and Company 
did an extensive business supplying bricks 
to major contractors. The Dubuque Steam 
Brick Works of Mahony and Crangle 
manufactured pressed bricks for fronts 
of buildings, as well as paving and com­
mon building bricks.

An entirely new technique in materials 
used in building construction was de­
veloped in the east shortly before the 
middle of the nineteenth century. The new 
material was cast iron and the new tech­
nique was to use cast columns for support 
units and cast ornaments and fronts for 
the facades of buildings. The new process 
moved west rapidly. By 1852, a foundry 
in Dubuque, The Iowa Iron Works, was 
advertising . . window caps and sills, 
columns, and iron castings of every de­
scription.’ John Francis Rague became an
agent for cast iron material and advertised: 

Entire Iron Fronts For Business Houses. 
These Fronts are Architecturally beautiful, 
and of the latest styles, and handsome as 
any in the United States. If desired they 
are fitted up with Burglar and Fire Proof 
Rolling Iron Shutters.
Evidently appearance, as well as func­

tion, was important to Dubuque residents 
in their decade of prosperity. The Editor
of the Express and Herald commented: 

We had the pleasure yesterday of examin­
ing in the office of Mr. Allardyce, architect, 
a number of drafts and cuts of caps, brack­
ets, etc., for building purposes, of the most 
beautiful designs and proportions. Several 
of these fronts are the same in feature with

those magnificent ones erected in Chicago 
during the past summer, and are really a 
credit to the designer and foundrymen who 
got them up. . . . Iron fronts are becoming 
very popular in the East and also in large 
Western cities, they are represented to be 
less costly and they are certainly more dur­
able and beautiful than any other for public 
buildings and business blocks, now in use.

These editorial comments indicate a 
number of things about life and attitudes 
in Dubuque at that time. Local foundries 
had knowledge of methods and designs 
used in Chicago and other cities further 
east. Communication with the east about 
cultural and aesthetic matters was appar­
ently common. Even more important, be­
cause it was fashionable in eastern cities 
to use cast iron fronts and ornaments, then 
Dubuque should also use them. Civic 
pride demanded that Dubuque keep up 
with other cities. Economics supported 
the use of cast iron architectural details, 
because they were cheaper and more dur­
able. This nice mixing of a sense of getting 
their money’s worth, and at the same time 
doing things to create the best possible 
impression of ‘civilization seems to have 
typified Dubuque during its first three 
decades. Indeed, it is similar in this re­
spect to many other towns, both on the 
frontier and elsewhere. By the 1850s, style 
was important.

Commercial buildings in Dubuque prob­
ably followed a rather common trend in 
styles. Since few photographs or engrav­
ings exist from before the 1850s it is diffi­
cult to be precise about the earlier build­
ings. Most commercial buildings were un­
doubtedly eclectic in style and not un­
usual enough to provoke comment. The 
newspapers, which normally were diligent 
chroniclers of new houses, failed to com-
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St. Raphael's Church teas surprisingly sophisticated for its frontier setting. More elaborate than most of 
Mazzuchelli’s designs. its paneled dome, parapeted wall, unembellished pilasters of the facade, and the 
geometric frieze supporting the flattened tower were highly decorative. The Bishop's House, built three 
years later, teas less interesting, and the main ornaments were the fan-shaped tympanum grill in the 
attic gable and multi-paned square windows, a contrast to the Romanesque arches of those in the Church.

ment on commercial buildings.
More evidence is available for the 

1850s. In 1855 and 1856, the Odd Fellows 
Lodge built a business block on the 
southwest corner of Bluff and 8th Streets. 
Other commercial buildings of note were 
the Lorimier House hotel built in 1857-58 
and the Julien House in 1854. These, along 
with most other commercial buildings, 
combined architectural styles, adding de­
tails from several periods and mixing, for 
example, Classical with Italianate and 
Romanesque.

Public buildings in Dubuque, on the 
other hand, showed an astonishing variety 
of styles. They contrasted sharply with the 
bland similarity of the commercial build- 
ings. Beginning with the construction of 
St. Raphael’s Church in 1836, more differ­

ent architectural stvles were used in the 
design of public buildings of Dubuque 
than in anv other town in earlv Iowa.✓ j
Father Mazzuchelli chose the Italian Ren­
aissance Revival mode for his church. He 
was a native of northern Italy and prob- 
ablv imitated the stvles familiar to him 
from childhood. The church, built of na­
tive stone, was amazingly sophisticated for 
the Iowa frontier at the time.

The first Dubuque County Court House 
was built in 1839. The architect is various­
ly given as Samuel Wilkings or Joseph 
Ogilby, but it is likely that Wilkings 
drew rough plans (for which he was paid 
$8) and Ogilby supervised the finishing 
touches on the drawings. The building 
was a massive structure of brick and re­
minded the viewer of the Romanesque
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The Egyptian Revival Style was part of the 
Classical Revival, and used Egyptian motifs 
instead of Greek and Roman. It ivas probably 
inspired by the publication in 1802 of Baron 
de Denons archaeological research done dur­
ing Napoleons Egyptian campaign. It seems 
to have gained popularity during the Romantic 
Era because of its novelty and its antiquity. 
The high point of its American phase was 
reached in the 1830s, but there were never 
many examples constructed. Most of the uses 
of this style were for prisons, medical col­
leges, or cemetery dependencies. The Dubuque 
County Jail illustrates the style by its ornamen­
tation, the tin cavetto cornice, winged sun 
disks on the cavetto lintels with human faces 
substituted for the sun orbs, and simulated 
papyrus bundles as columns flanking the main 
entrance. The walls illustrate the massiveness 
characteristic of this style, and are constructed 
of large blocks of limestone laid in a running 
ashlar bond, extended blocks acting as the 
quoins. The Jail marks a delayed reaction to 
a minor style that was used two decades 
earlier along the eastern seaboard.
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churches of early Medieval Europe. An 
addition was made to the building in 1856, 
by John Rague, but apparently it simply 
doubled the length with no change in 
style. It is impossible to tell just where 
Rague began his addition.

Perhaps the most exotic example of 
architectural style in early Dubuque was 
the Dubuque Female College. Catherine 
Beecher of the famous New England fam­
ily offered the town $20,000 in cash, 
$1000 worth of books and equipment, 
and four faculty members if the towns­
people would erect a building and recruit 
students. The school was incorporated in 
1853, construction began in 1854, and 
classes opened in the fall of that year. 
Even though the building was not complete 
until 1857, the Female College held classes 
from 1854 until 1859 when the school 
closed. There is no record of the architect, 
but the result was a pseudo-Bvzantine or 
Florid Gothic palace. The bizarre-looking 
towers and the uneven heights of the 
facades gave the building an arresting ap­
pearance. It still survives, minus towers, 
battlements, and decoration, as the Our 
Lady of Lourdes Home.

Another exotic building was the Du­
buque County Jail, designed by John Ra­
gue, and built in 1857. It was in the Egyp­
tian Revival style, a relatively rare occur­
rence in the region. The building was con­
structed of massive limestone blocks and 
was distinguished by the ornamented tin 
work of the roof, cornices, and windows. 
Winged sun disks atop the windows had 
human faces in the place of the sun; some 
of these still exist. The columns flanking 
the door were carved to resemble papyrus, 
and along with the walls, appear to be

tilted inward, a characteristic of the Egyp­
tian style.

Rague left his mark on many other pub­
lic buildings of early Dubuque, including 
three schools. The First, Third, and Fifth 
Ward schools were all built to his identical 
design. All were three-story, brick struc­
tures. Another of Rague’s designs was the 
Central Market House and Citv Hall, builtj *
in 1857-59. Also a three-story building, the 
structure was supposedly inspired by the 
design of the Fulton Street Market in New 
York and Faneuil Hall in Boston. It is still 
used as the City Hall today and is in rela­
tively good repair.

One interesting feature of the Central 
Market and City Hall was the windows. 
They were 11 feet high and had massive 
limestone slab sills. These window sills 
were the height of a wagonbed to facili­
tate the loading and unloading of goods 
through the openings.

Inside the building, the first story ceil­
ing was supported by 30 cast iron columns. 
The second storv was divided into Councily

Chamber, Court Room, and city offices. 
The third floor was a Town Hall, the en­
tire dimension of the building, 49M> feet 
by 150 feet, left unobstructed by post or 
pillar. The basement contained the police 
offices, the City Jail, and two saloons, one 
of which was leased to Henry Heel, a 
member of the Citv Council.y

Dubuque was designated a Port-of-Entry 
by the federal government in 1856. To 
accommodate the new role, a Customs 
House was begun in 1857 and finally com­
pleted in 1866. The stone for the building 
was quarried in southern Illinois and ship­
ped to Dubuque, even though local stone
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/ he Dubuque Female College is attributed 
to no architect and combines a number of 
styles in its basic mass and in its decora­
tions. The building, located on 17th Street 
at the head of Iowa, illustrates exotic 
“onion” domes (ogee-arched caps on the 
octagonal towers) as well as a “Great 11 all” 
or mock Rose Window in the facade, 
topped by a molded lintel in a lancet arch 
design. A battlemented parapet trims each 
wing and is repeated as the crest for the 
gable. Hooded lintels, segmentally arched 
tower windows, pinnacles, and an unusual­
ly high water table all combine to add to 
the strange architectural appearance of thus 
building. The conjectural drawing (right) 
shows two one-story wings, which add a 
note of symmetry, but in the photograph of 
the actual building (above) it will be seen 
that the south wing was constructed as two 
stories and the north wing only one, giving 
the building an off-balance appearance, 
made even more noticeable because of the 
slope of the bank on which it was erected, 
(courtesy of the Dubuque County Historical 
Society)

•• f
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The Central Market and City Hall, built in 1857-58. This late nineteenth century photo shows the 
use of the windows as loading docks for produce wagons. (courtesy of the Dubuque County Historical 
Society)

of acceptable quality was available. It is 
a fine example of Italian Renaissance Re­
vival style. The building was later used 
as the U.S. Post Office and was not razed 
until 1933.

Perhaps the most striking public build­
ing in Dubuque of the 1850s was the St. 
Raphael’s Cathedral (not to be confused 
with Father Mazzuchelli’s earlier St. Ra­
phael’s Church), designed by John Mul- 
laney and built between 1857 and 1859. 
Located dramatically at the foot of the 
bluff at the head of 2nd Street, the Gothic 
Revival building’s tower reaches 243 feet. 
The windows and arches of the facade 
form a beautiful ensemble. The Cathedral 
was the largest in Dubuque at the time

and is still used as the Archdiocesan Cathe­
dral.

Another impressive public building was 
the Congregational Church, probably de­
signed by David Jones and built in 1857- 
58 at a cost of $40,000. It was a brick 
structure in the Norman Revival style. 
Notwithstanding its Gothic ancestry, a 
massive Romanesque arch of moulded 
brick and stained glass formed the main 
entry. Boasting two towers, the building 
was replete with decorative touches. It 
still serves the Congregational denomina­
tion, but has been simplified on the ex­
terior. The traceried Rose Window still 
exists and, at 13 feet in diameter, is the 
largest in Dubuque.
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St. Raphael’s Cathedral is 84 by 163 feet 
in dimensions, with a 243 foot tower 
centered in the front of the facade gable. 
Within the tower the most outstanding 
feature is the enormous stained glass win­
dow, traceried with lancet arches, elabor­
ately carved quatrefoil cusps, and a re­
verse dentil crested crocket topped by a 
Celtic cross. Trefoil cusped bullseye win­
dows flank the tower, and the lancet 
arch windows are repeated in the en­
trances and the nave windows. Battle- 
mented towers decorate each corner of 
the building, engaged columns act as 
quoins for the tower and are surmounted 
by pinnacles. St. Raphael’s is a fine ex­
ample of the early Gothic Revival style 
and resembles the many eastern examples 
of this period designed by the most 
famous of the ecclesiastical architects, 
James Renwick, Jr. and Richard Upjohn.
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The Congregational Church in a late nineteenth 
century view, (courtesy of the Dubuque County 
Historical Society)

Taken together, the public buildings in 
Dubuque prior to the Civil War did not 
fit neatly into any stylistic pattern. The 
Egyptian Revival and Byzantine Revival 
buildings were the only examples of these 
stvles anywhere in Iowa before 1861. In- 
deed, they were never common styles any­
where in the United States at any time. No 
purely Classical Revival public buildings 
have been found in Dubuque for this 
period, although this style was popular 
nationally. Many examples of Gothic Re­
vival and Italianate, and a major example 
of the continuing popularity of the Geor­
gian style of the 18th century were found 
there. Individual preference and the avail- 
abilitv of an architect or of commercial

plans seem to have been the major de­
terminants of what stvles were used. Ity
is interesting to note that the County Jail 
was built in Egyptian Revival style not 
because that is what Rague demanded, 
but rather because when the bids were 
taken, the County officials specified that 
the plans had to be in that style.

Houses in Dubuque during the period 
were of the same style as the commercial 
and the public buildings. The first brick 
residence in Dubuque, as mentioned, was 
the home of LeRoy Jackson, built in 1836. 
A mixture of Jacobean, Georgian, and 
Classical Revival styles, the home was 
very large and quite professionally done, 
but no architect was referred to and local 
brickmakers and craftsmen must have 
been responsible for its erection. It was 
apparently the first of a group of three 
similar brick homes which were erected 
along Main Street that year.

Mathias Ham, the contractor for the 
erection of the Customs House in 1857, 
found that some of the stone brought in 
from Illinois was not of high enough 
quality for the federal building. He used 
the rejected stone to build an addition to 
his small farm house. The original portion 
of this house was built in 1839 by Ham 
of native limestone. Though originally in 
the town of Eagle Point, by 1857 the area 
had been annexed by Dubuque, so the 
new mansion was within the larger town, 
on a bluff at the intersection of what is 
now Lincoln and Shiras Avenues. The 
structure now houses the Dubuque County 
Historical Society Museum.

One of the most unusual homes was 
built by Edward Langworthv who re­
tained J. F. Rague to design a new man­
sion for him to be built on the bluffs back
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of Third Street. In 1857, the octagonal 
brick house was completed and occupied. 
The two story dwelling is surmounted by 
an octagonal tower and captain s walk. All 
of the extremities and decorative features 
are correlated to the octagonal shape: the 
front porch repeats this shape, the project­
ing bay windows of the first floor do the 
same, and the belvedere is carefully pro­
portioned to repeat the overall pattern.

Frederick E. Bissell built a Gothic Re­
vival mansion in 1857, but because of the 
nationwide financial Panic, it was sold to 
R. A. Babbage, who then sold it to Wil­
liam Andrew. The mansion was also de­
signed by Rague, and it occupied a half­
block on 11th Street between Locust and

Bluff. This building was the earliest and 
most elaborate example of the florid Vic­
torian phase of the Gothic Revival style 
found in Iowa. It led the way, stylistically, 
towards the “gingerbread’ motif that be­
came so common in Dubuque after the 
Civil War. It was unusual for the early 
date of 1857.

Descriptions of individual buildings do 
not indicate the visual ensemble created 
by these same buildings when they were 
observed next to each other along streets. 
With the limited evidence available, the 
inescapable conclusion is that buildings 
of all kinds were simply erected as needed, 
as thev could be afforded, and in the 
styles preferred by the owners. No effort

The LcRoy Jackson House, the first brick residence in Dubuque. The photo probably dates from before 
the Civil War. (courtesy of the Dubuque County Historical Society)
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Ham House is actually two buildings, the 
earlier one being the original farm house 
built in 1839. The much larger addition 
in 1857 was constructed of limestone re­
jected from the contract for the federal 
Customs House being built at the same 
time. The octagonal belvedere, the ver­
anda, and the wide overhanging eaves 
supported by an elaborately carved 
double corbel course mark the mansion 
as being in the Italian Villa style. The 
Tudor arched portico is a deviation from 
this style and is an example of the 
mixing of the “pure” styles by the tastes 
of the builder.
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was made to create facades that were uni­
form or even sympathetic. Brick mansion 
sat cheek by jowl with frame cottage or 
hovel. Fancy hotels were situated next 
door to the meanest sort of craft shop. 
This tendency can be seen in two 1857 
engravings of the commercial buildings 
along Main Street. Looking downtown, 
the east side of the street shows some 
attempt to coordinate styles and roof lines 
in some of the buildings. But looking up­
town, the variety of roof lines and styles

as well as size and value is bewildering. 
Views of Dubuque from the river also 
give some impression that the architec­
tural pattern of the town was one of con­
fusion rather than regularity or order. In 
this, Dubuque simply followed the usual 
frontier condition. Height, style, purpose, 
topography, or aesthetics were rarely con­
sidered in relation to surrounding build­
ings.

The life of a people may be studied in

The Bissell-Babbage-Andrew House, from a photo about 1880. (courtesy of John \1. McDonald)
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Downtown and Uptown views of Dubuque’s commercial district in 1857. (illustrations from Ballou’s 
Pictorial Drawing Room Companion, October 31, 1857)
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many ways. The physical surroundings 
which people create for themselves offer 
clues to what was thought important, nec­
essary, or desirable. The social and aesthet­
ic values of the past can be seen in the 
way towns were planned and buildings 
constructed. Architecture is a relatively 
permanent, visible expression and record 
of the origins, traditions, and resources 
of the people.

Such clues can be read in the history of 
Dubuque, where the elaborate mansions 
of the 1850s contrasted vividly with the 
smaller and plainer homes of the 1830s.

1 his contrast illustrated the increased 
wealth and leisure of the builders, who 
could afford in the later years this con­
spicuous expenditure. In a similar way, 
the increasingly elaborate and impressive 
public buildings showed a community 
emerging from the first stages of develop­
ment into an era of expansion and pros­
perity. The public buildings erected in 
Dubuque in the 1850s reflected a pride 
not demonstrated during the period when 
shelter from the elements was the major 
goal. By 1860, the frontier mining camp 
had matured into a confident citv. FI


